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CHAPTER III 

THE PASSING OF THE RANGE

A lead article from The Meagher Republican in the summer of 1904 

pointed to the changing conditions of the Montana land scene. The editor 

recalled that during the period up to the disastrous winter of 1886-87, 

the stockgrowing industry had had free rein of the ranges, but that since 

that time the situation had altered. This, according to the editor of 

the only paper now serving the Smith River and Musselshell Valleys, was 

caused by the influx of additional sheep and cattle men. They had 

squatted, homesteaded, purchased and fenced every available acre. Besides 

making it impossible to graze cattle on the open range, this situation 

caused over-extended use of pasture lands or added to the costly driving 

of stock further into the hills for range. However, the editor was not 

bemoaning this problem. He felt the increasing number of individual 

ranchers and the corresponding decrease in the size of ranches would 

be a healthy situation, bringing further increased prosperity. He 

decided that "where there is one man engaged in the business now there 

will be twenty." As an example of this trend, the editor pointed to 

one of the largest ranchers in the Musselshell having a colonization plan 

under consideration.^

This article illustrated the thinking of many individuals in 

Meagher County. The same reasoning extended to much of Montana. In sum.

^The Meagher Republican, August 19, 1904.
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the view was commonly held the large rancher had outlived his day and 

his usefulness. Even so, other than the First National Bank of White 

Sulphur Springs, the Montana Railroad and the Northern Pacific, which 

had been bequeathed a considerable acreage within the county as part of 

its land grant. the large ranchers. Smith Brother, Len Lewis, G. R. 

Wilson, paid a considerable share of Meagher County taxes.^

The county had enjoyed such a limited growth over the past thirty 

years that a lackadaisical attitude hovered like a shadow over the towns 

and the very lives of the people. The booming spirit following the coming 

of the Montana Railroad and the productive periods at the mining towns 

of Neihart, Castle and Copperopolis, was no longer in evidence. The 

Rocky Mountain Husbandman, so long the voice of hope and prosperity 

for White Sulphur Springs and the area, finally closed its doors and 

made the move to Great Falls in the spring of 1904. In part, Robert N. 

Sutherlin left because of the competition created by the two-year-old 

Meagher Republican, the partisan paper published by the county attorney.

^Rocky Mountain Husbandman, December 24, 1896. This issue listed 
the largest taxpayers in Meagher County for this particular year. All of 
the large county taxpayers were ranchers, the railroad and one mining 
company. Case examples: G. R. Wilson, $11085.85; Smith Brothers, $1,839.63;
American Sheep & Land Co., $1,105.32; First National Bank, White Sulphur 
Springs, $3,601.25; Montana Railroad, $1,956.03; Florence Mining Co., 
$1,901.26.

The Meagher Republican, November 4, 1904. Leading taxpayers in 1904 
were as follows: Montana Railroad Company, $4,621.61; Smith Brothers
Sheep Company, $2,370.70; Len Lewis Estate, $1,110.47; C. R. Wilson,
$1,174.82 and C. R. Wilson Company, $173.11; George Lyons, $1,061.14;
First National Bank, White Sulphur Springs, $2,321.00; Anderson-Spenser- 
Manager Company, $1,430.15; Catlin Land and Livestock Company, $1,217.91;
M. T. Grande, $905.19; P. J. Moore, $454.54. Each one of these taxpayers, 
outside of the railroad, bank and largest store, was a major stockman.
Most were sheepmen.
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Max Waterman. The Husbandman lost the county printing to its rival and 

the state agricultural paper was economically forced to make its move 

to better grounds. Sutherlin left White Sulphur Springs with a final 

comment that 1904 was a rough year for all of Montana.^

Stockmen in Meagher County encountered yet another delicate quandary 

with the Federal Government's announced withdrawal of lands for national 

forests. The stockmen saw the creation of more forest reserves as a fur­

ther encroachment upon their livestock operations. The view was ably 

expressed by a Twodot writer to the Republican.

The withdrawing of land for settlement, preparatory to creating 
more forest lands, is a very serious matter and is of great 
concern to the stockmen of Meagher county. Those who have suffered 
so keenly by the creation of the Belt reserve will look with addit­
ional discomfiture on the creation of the Castle and Crazy mountain 
reserves. It absolutely jeopardizes every stock interest in 
Meagher county. Were these created above timber line it would not 
be as noticeablè, but not content with a certain range, th@y have 
included townships that are absolutely barren of timber and have 
driven the settler or squatter, with his small possessions, upon 
the tender mercies of the universe. Some preconcerned action 
should be taken relative to prescribed boundaries as it looks very 
much as if the sacred soil of Meagher would be one great forest 
reserve.2

The rancher, so long belabored by the sporadic wool and beef prices, 

now looked on himself as helpless against the power of the Federal 

Government. The financial straits of Harlowton businessmen and falling 

stock prices for the local ranchers were serious conditions. However,

1Rocky Mountain Husbandman, March 10, 1904. The Great Falls 
area, at the time Editor Sutherlin moved his newspaper, was undergoing 
a new farming process being experimented with by Paris Gibson, a friend 
and protege of Jim Hill of the Great Northern Railroad. Practiced most 
recently in the Dakotas, it was termed Dry-Land Farming. Gibson was a 
frequent contributor to the Husbandman's columns. Most of his letters 
concerned the merits of non-irrigation.

^The Meagher Republican. March 18, 1904.
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the arrival or the Milwaukee Railroad opened the valley to the outside 

world and potential settlement because the railroad was anxious to real­

ize a ceturn iiom its investment in the West. Further, it needed a ready 

buying and selling market for its hauls across the north country. Home­

steading, a proven colonizer in Che Dakotas since the mid-i880's, 

provided the answer.

The first indication of a sudden change in the county came with 

an editorial in a 1905 issue of The Meagher Republican at White Sulphur 

Springs. The editor wrote of the persistent rumors that the Milwaukee 

Railroad would be building into Montana on its drive to the Pacific and 

would very likely come through Harlowton in the heart of the Musselshell, 

branching to the north and Great Falls, or to Helena by way of the 

Smith River Valley and White Sulphur Springs.^

Through the fall of 1905 and into the first part of 1906 the editor 

continued to write of the route and the great possibilities for any 

section traversed by the transcontinental line.

The county seat editor was not alone in his interest in the rail­

road and its possible routes. A Martinsdale correspondent expressed 

concern for the people of his area in constructin new buildings for 

fear that the railroad route would fbrce them to pick up and move the 

town. In anticipation of the future railroad building, Twodot was 

reported to have prospects for a new general store, barber shop and a 

jewelry.

So long cut off from a railroad, White Sulphur Springs business­

men organized the meagher Investment Company and were "ready to buy up

IThe Meagher Republican, October 20, 1905.
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land for immigration and issue stock" with the premature hope the 

Milwaukee would run its line through the Smith River route and on 

to Helena.^

At Harlowton, a newspaper was born in the summer of 1906 in 

anxious anticipation of the Milwaukee Railroad which had recently 

announced from its Chicago offices that the line would run through 

Harlowton.2 Editor A. F. Weston's articles were devoted to the many 

local affairs and a close observance of the Milwaukee construction 

towards Forsyth, Montana, 175 miles to the east.

He sxtolled the virtues of the town and its possible growth with 

the arrival of the Milwaukee. He called the Musselshell Valley "a 

land of great promise . . . and what is now ranch country will some 

day be agricultural land if the various schemes of colonization; of 

irrigation; of well-drilling and reservoir building materialize."3 

During this same summer Harlowton businessmen with the aid of 

the Harlowton Boosters, local ranchers, and Milwaukee and Montana rail­

road officials reorganized the private Bank of Harlowton into the State 

Bank of Harlowton and capitalized it with $30,000.^

The bank organizers were preparing for the possible business boom 

which many local people expected would accompany the coming of the 

Milwaukee Railroad. Weston, after reading editorial comments of other

^The Meagher Republican, October 20, 1905.

^Arthur Weston was the first editor in Harlowton. Most recently 
a saloon keeper, Weston, formerly a Castle store clerk, moved to Harlow­
ton with the Montana Railroad. In 1906, Weston purchased an old printing
press from Pony, Montana, and cranked out the first issue of The Mussel­
shell News on July 26, i906. Letter given to author from D. E. Perkins,
Harlowton, from F. C. "Hoss" Howard, Seattle, dated November 18, 1965.

^The Musselshell News, July 26, 1906. ^Ibid.
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State newspapers, had many of the same thoughts. He wrote in January, 

1907: "At the present time there is much talk, newspaper and otherwise,

about 'boosting Montana.' We can scarcely pick up a paper without seeing 

something about a meeting held to consider steps to induce emigration to 

the state.

Dr. Suddeth was planning to bring in a colony of Iowa farmers to 

farm dry land around his own experimental operation.2 The News passed 

over Suddeth's accomplishments and future plans with a short local item 

because the town was occupied with a problem of its own.

In June, most of the town of Harlowton burned to the ground as the 

temporary, hastily constructed wooden structures of the first seven years 

were consumed in a very short time. Harlowton people recovered in 

short order, this time rebuilding with stone from a nearby quarry.

By August, with construction of the town well on the way, the 

editor again began to opine on the workings of Dr. Suddeth and the 

arriving Iowa colony. The editor was more optimistic this time, having 

had ample opportunity to read news accounts of early dry land crop 

production and prospects, "If people can raise crops in that section, 

(near Lavina on Suddeth's farm), we should be able to do something in the 

crop line on our own fine lands which surround us on all sides.

The newest businessmen in the Musselshell, the real estate men, 

were far ahead of the editor. They were buying land in anticipation 

of reselling it for crop productions.

^The Musselshell News, January 17, 1907- 

^The Musselshell News, April 4, 1907- 

^The Musselshell News, August 8, 1907.
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Two large ranch sales were negotiated In August and September,

One sheep ranch or 40,000 acres, running 40,000 head or sheep was 

sold for ^600,000, and a 26,000 acre ranch was sold ror $400,000,

These lands sold ror $13 an acre and one of the buyers commented chat 

his ranch purchase would bring in no less than twenty families during 

the next two to three years. The editor wrote after these land trans­

actions :

Meagher county, too, may be fairly said to be getting into 
the line of progress, and in nearly every portion or it 
there have been very successful tests (of dry land farming).
The great and fertile valley or the Musselshell will be 
found keeping up with the spirit or onward agriculture, and 
it will afford hundreds of homes for farmers, who will thrive 
and wax fat upon the harvests wrested from its rich areas.
This will make for better farms, better homes, and bigger and 
better towns. AND HARLOWTON' WELL, HARLOWTON WILL BE RIGHT 
IN THE CENTER OF IT 1^

This optimism was not confined to the Musselshell area. Most of

the state's newspapers commented this breakdown of the large sheep and

cattle ranches was an orderly transition, and one for the better. The

Great Falls Leader stated:

This IS a natural and most satisfactory development of the 
agricultural resources of the state. It is bound to continue, 
to the prosperity of all concerned. Gradually Montana land 
is becoming more valuable, and, as it is realized that what 
in the past has been regarded merely as grazing land is capable 
of producing excellent crops, and of returning satisfactory 
profits to the grower, the big ranches must go.2

The attitude of the Great Falls newsman was no different than

that of many Montanans by this time, A wide-spread view was that the

large ranches were too large. Too much land was being used only for

T̂he Musselshell News, September 12, i907, 

^The Musselshell News, September 19, i907.
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grazing sheep and cattle. Colonization of the state would do much to 

help it grow and prosper. Further, the experiments with dry land farming 

by men like Dr. W. X. Suddeth at Lavina and Paris Gibson of Great Falls 

and the countless examples of "dry landers" in the Dakotas were proof of 

the possibilities of farming with little or no irrigation and a minimum 

rainfall. For those wary individuals who did not adhere to these reports, 

the Milwaukee, Northern Pacific and Great Northern railroads had 

agricultural and publicity departments. The departments were spending 

large sums of money to prove the practicality of dry land farming in 

Montana. They proposed to populate the prairie land which had been 

considered of no worth beyond livestock grazing.^

Montana, long suffering from the plight of the ranchers, took 

to concept of dry land farming as though a germ of truth, long dormant, 

was finally being realized. The virgin soils of the grazing lands were 

ready to unfurrow bounciful harvests for all.2 Dry land farming was as

^Dry land advertising by all of the various agencies followed 
the same general sequence of personal testimonies, homestead laws, lauda­
tory descriptions of the area, prices of land, several maps and pictures 
of farm homes, grain fields and sturdy farm families. Note Sam Teagarden, 
The Land of Opportunity (Harlowton: The Musselshell News, 1908): Chicago,
Milwaukee & St. Paul Railway. HOMESTEAD DAYS: Government Homesteads and
How to Secure Them. (Chicago: Poole Bros., 1908); Great Northern Rail­
way , Briefe von Farmern die Ansassing sind auf den fruchtbarren Lander- 
eien von Montana und Washington an der Great Northern Railway. (Chicago 
n.p., n.d.); Siegfried Michelson, Promotional Activities of the Northern 
Pacific Railroad's Land and Immigration Departments, 1870-1902: A Case
Study of Commercial Advertising in the Nineteenth Century, (Unpublished 
Master's dissertation. University of Minnesota 1940); Mary Wilma Hargre­
aves, Dry Farming in the Northern Great Plains (Cambridge: Harvard
University, 1957).

2Chicago, Milwaukee & St. Paul Railway, MONTANA: Its Resources 
and Opportunities (Chicago: Poole Bros. Railway Printers, September, 1912), 
Cover. This was the best-known pamphlet cover devised by the Milwaukee 
Railroad. It was a multi-colored picture of a farmer plowing through a 
map of the Great Plains, especially through the route of the Milwaukee.
In the wake of the plow, gold coin pieces overflowed the banks of the 
plowed furrows.
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quickly accepted and adopted in Montana as in other states. The opening 

of the public domain by the enlarged Homestead Act and the buying of 

the large ranches by syndicates for resale in smaller farm tracts, 

opened thousands of acres of Eastern Montana to small farmers.

The Billings Gazette commented on the dry land farming products 

at every county fair in Montana in 1907 and decided "that dry land 

farming is bound to be one of the chief industries of the state.

The Musselshell News chronicled the continuous reports of 

the fine successes scored by dry land farmers during the summer of 

1907 and added:

. . . What may be accomplished by the intelligent application 
of industry and modern methods of dry soil culture in 
Montana is of peculiarly pertinent interest to the people of 
the great Musselshell country. Not anywhere else out-of- 
doors is there bench land of greater fertility, nor of 
greater productive possibilities; nowhere does the preci­
pitation of moisture come at a more favoring season. All that 
is lacking here is an appreciation that measures up to 
present opportunities.^

With the new year of 1908, the opportunities were even more 

apparent than before. In the second issue of January, the editor 

told of the recent purchase by one of Harlowton's founding fathers,
3A. C. Graves, of one of the oldest ranches in the Musselshell Valley.

This purchase ominously marked the changing land conditions of 

the Musselshell. With the approach of the tracks toward Harlowton, 

the Milwaukee announced its intentions for the immediate area:

^The Musselshell News, October 24, 1907. 

2lbid.

^The Musselshell News, January 9, 1908.
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Cheap colonists rates (will be available) as an added induce­
ment for people to come to Montana . . . .  For the last several 
years the commercial organizations of the west and the agents 
of the land companies have been engaged in publicity work, 
advertising to the people of the east of the advantages of 
this part of the country. They have been sowing the seed, 
and the harvest is now forthcoming.^

Harlowton businessmen were most enthused by the promised harvest 

planned by the Milwaukee Railroad. In the middle of January, 1908, 

the Musselshell Valley Business Men's Association was organized to 

assist in the harvest. The purpose of the group, according to the 

editor, was "to interest all people in the growth and development of 

the area so that there might be united, intelligent and systematic 

work carried on in; that behalf."^ The organizers included, among 

others, the local jeweler, several saloon owners, all the real estate 

men, two lawyers, the banking interests, the editor and the two general 

store owners. Over fifty men joined the group. The local fervor was 

so strong the women of the community started an auxiliary club to 

work for town improvements. But it was the men who pushed the area 

for the homesteader. They began to call their organization the Harlow­

ton Boosters Club.

The boosters publicized the Musselshell Valley with determination. 

They advertised in a number of Montana and out-of-state newspapers.^ 

Special emphasis was centered upon the fine land in the Valley and the 

potential growth of the area and the towns with the completion of the

^The Musselshell News. January 16, 1908. ^Ibid.

notable example of their advertising campaign was the three-page 
spread in The Evening Times. Grand Forks, North Dakota, Monday, February 1, 
1909, pp. 2, 4 and 7. The headline read, "Harlx^rton, Montana pride of the
Musselshell Valley. A Land in the Region of the Sunshine and Plenty---
the place where the investor/ has the opportunity to enrich himself."
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Milwaukee. Repceseneacives of the club were sent to Washington, D. C=, 

to appear beiore a congressional committee to argue the need ot a 

government land office at Harlowton. They were also instrumental in 

capitalizing the new Stace Bank of Harlowton for $50,000 and in 

gathering a number of local produce items for the Milwaukee's dry farming 

exhibit cars which were being readied for publicity tours of the 

eastern states.

On March 9, 1908, the first through train connecting Harlowton 

with the East arrived in the town, now grown up to an estimated 400 

people. The editor greeted the railroad's arrival with a most optimistic 

note. "And so It has come to pass that through passenger and freight 

trains are a feature of life in the great Musselshell valley I What 

growth, what prosperity, what a splendid future this portends.

This line of reasoning overwhelmed the businessman of Harlowton 

with more emotionalism than fact. To a great extent it was helped by 

the falling livestock market and the arrival of the Milwaukee. At 

the same time, local people were anxious to have their region grow and 

prosper and develop with the rest of the country. In simplest terms, 

Montana wanted to get out of the past and grow up to the Midwest 

example. The railroad and the Federal Government looked at Montana

^The Musselshell News, February 20, i908.
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with rose-colored glasses and asked, "Why not?"-*- Most Montanans answered 

in this same vein.

Harlowton businessmen started their own advertising agency in 

organizing the Harlowton Boosters Club. This group was founded to adver­

tise the Musselshell area in Montana and eastern state newspapers. The 

local editor felt the advertising was doing a notable service in 

presenting the "legitimate resources" of the Musselshell and ended his 

editorial with the heart of the reasoning underlying the advertising,

"What we need more than anything else is a few hundred practical farmers 

to settle up our agricultural lands."2

The Boosters invited the nearest Milwaukee Railroad experimental 

farm expert to speak at one of their meetings. Dr. W. X. Suddeth reviewed 

the recent changes in land ownership and predicted that the Musselshell 

and its various towns would have "a fine future." He congratulated the 

people of the area on their fortunate geographic location on the main­

line of the transcontinental railroad, which, he siad, "was the greatest

^Senator Joseph Dixon, Montana, had the more realistic view of 
Major John Wesley Powell on the settlement of the West when he proposed 
his amended homestead bill. The Musselshell News, December 26, 1907. 
"The Homestead law which has played a great role in the settlement of 
the country was admittledly devised for application to the fertile and 
well-watered plains of the Middle West. Its authors never supposed that 
the arid lands of the far West would ever be settled, and consequently 
no provisions were ever made for them in the bill. To impose the same 
limitations and restriction in the arid land district of Montana as 
are applied to the bountiful, watered lands of the Mississippi basin 
is a manifest injustice." Even the Enlarged Homestead Act, providing 
360 acre homesteads, wasn’t practical on the dry prairies. In most 
cases, the Timber Culture Act and Desert Land Act proved to be as 
impractical.

^The Musselshell News, April 16, 1907.
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colonizer and business builder of all the great continental transporta­

tion lines."i

As he left the meeting the Lavina experimental farmer met a group 

of Wisconsin and Illinois land buyers in Harlowton, and proceeded to 

take them on a tour down the Milwaukee route to this Lavina farm.

Even with Dr. Suddeth's bright forecasts many Harlowton men were 

cautious ot all-out backing of this farming technique too readily. The 

next meeting of the Musselshell Valley Business Men's Association was 

devoted to the livestock interests. At that time, the association met 

with a number of ranchers from Eastern Meagher County to discuss the 

possibilities of a wool warehouse and a centrally-located sheep shear­

ing plant at Harlowton to bolster local fortunes.

Within the month, however, the Association was set straight on the 

railroad's plans for Harlowton and the Musselshell. A group of Milwaukee 

officials came to town to inspect the railroad building and to determine 

how Harlowton was adapting to the railroad. Businessmen up and down 

main street were urged not only to maintain their association but also 

to strengthen it for further town building. The Harlowton editor noted 

the advice of the railroad officials as he reported, "those towns along 

the line which the soonest demonstrate a quick and lively sense of 

their opportunities will be the first to receive our assistance. But 

we shall not be able to waste any time on drones, individually or 

collectively."2

By April, the future of Harlowton was assured to be dependent upon

^The Musselshell News, January 30, 1908. 

^The Musselshell News, February 20, 1908.
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colonization of settlers. Louis Penwell, a major ranchowner and more 

recently a buyer and seller of ranches for land syndicates, announced 

from his Helena office the purchase of two ranches in the Musselshell 

Valley for $125,000. His purchases were followed by those of a number 

of eastern buyers and syndicate representatives. The remaining ranchers 

were left pondering their future existence in the Musselshell by these 

acquisitions of neighbors' lands and the results of the Murphy trial at 

Helena.

The News editor had a small page three story in April, 1908, reporting 

that a number of Musselshell Valley ranchers were at the capital city 

attending the trial of Chas. T. Murphy for illegally fencing the domain.^ 

Heretofore the domain had been endless grazing land for livestock herds. 

With legal suits like the one against the rancher Murphy, the government 

was reaffirming its ownership of the domain, the end of free range, and 

the opening of free homestead lands on a grand scale. The ranchers found 

the trial results unrealistic in terms of their use of Montana lands.

^The Musselshell News, April 9, 1908.
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The open range era was through. Many ranchers began to sell out, most 

notable the sheepmen who had used the domain for considerably more 

grazing than the cattlemen.^

The Musselshell News editor, calling himself "The Booster of the 

Musselshell," felt the verdict a just one and began to expound the area's 

possibilities with greater intensity in each succeeding issue. Like most 

of the journalists of the homestead period, and especially those economi­

cally dependent upon homesteading, he became overwhelmed with his own 

rhetoric and ability to fashion descriptive passages, to the point where 

he believed them truthful. He viewed the Musselshell in terms of a 

garden spot.

The Harlowton business community also watched the results with

^Several local news items help to answer the interesting side­
light as to how the local rancher reacted to the changing complexion of 
local land conditions. "Mr. Pirrie, the well-to-do sheep man of Rothie- 
may, was in the city last Friday on business, and informs us he has 200 
acres of oats that stand 4 feet high . . . .  Mr. Pirrie is one of the 
sheep men who realize that this country is on the verge of settlement, 
and he has made up his mind that as long as it is sure to come, at the 
proper time he will divide his ranch holdings into small tracts and 
sell them to the incoming settlers." The Musselshell News, August 21, 
1908.

Perry G. Moore was one of the first ranchers In the Musselshell Valley.
He wintered stock in the valley in the early 1870's, ranching the same 
ground over the passing years. Interviewed in 1908, Moore said he had 
once seen corn spilled along the old freighter routes sprout up to be four 
or five feet high. The editor wrote: "he then predicted this country
would some day be growing crops of a surprising nature." The editor 
continued with his customary description of the wonders of the Mussel­
shell. He ended his articles by saying Moore was trying a little farm­
ing on his own and "unlike the average old-timer, his faith in dry land 
and dry farming is very great, and he admits his belief, that, if 
proper tillage is given the soil, as good, if not better results can 
be obtained thereby than by irrigation." The Musselshell News. Septem­
ber 4, 1908, Perry Moore's faith in dry land might have been authentic 
at the time, but he and his son and grandson ranched and still ranch 
their land, not farm it, in the 1960's.
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more than passing interest. With court rulings handed down against cattle­

men like Murphy, the lands around Harlowton were free for the price of a 

$3 filing or for sale at a moderate price. The Harlowton Boosters read 

of the Murphy trial, watched the land syndicates buying and selling ranches, 

and saw the rancher selling his lands or forming his own syndicate. The 

Boosters began to envision greatness for their valley. To learn more, 

the group invited Professor Thomas Shaw to give his learned opinion of 

Eastern Meagher County.

Professor Thomas Shaw was a dry land farming expert for the Great 

Northern and Milwaukee railroads. He had received his education in 

agriculture and had taught in colleges in Canada and Minnesota. Joining 

the land departments of the railroads during the early colonizing efforts, 

Professor Shaw became an excellent public relations man for dry land 

farming in Montana. Shaw came to Harlowton in the fall of 1908, visited 

the local business people and tested the soil of the area. He reported 

his findings in a national farming magazine. The Orange Judd Farmer. Shaw 

was at his literary best when he noted in one paragraph:

. . .  I can see no reason why this land, the larger portion of 
which is open to entry as homestead land, may not be successfully 
farmed without irrigation. . . .  I fail to see why the soil here 
should not be made to grow good crops of winter wheat and rye, 
or durum wheat and spletz, of all the small cereals. I fail 
to see why it would not grow good crops of alfalfa and alfalfa 
seed, in some seasons one cutting and in other seasons two. The 
tillage of the land would not be difficult.^

The editor wrote for his own editorial page after interviewing Professor

Shaw in Harlowton, "(He) was very impressed with the natural fertility of

the soil, and made the remark that the finest kind of crop would be

^The Musselshell News. September 18, 1908.
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grown here without the aid of irrigation."!

When Professor Shaw was in the Harlowton area, he was driven by 

Model-T car over the buffalo grass benchlands of Eastern Meagher 

County by one. of Llio local real estate men, A. C. Graves. Graves was 

one of the Harlowton Boosters, as were all the other real estate men of 

Harlowton in 1908, S. L. Hodges, Sam Teagraden and L. D. Glenn. They, 

too, were preparing for the flood of homeseekers.

Sam Teagarden prepared a pamphlet on the Musselshell Valley 

entitled, "The Land of Opportunity." The pamphlet described the 

excellent business openings in Harlowton and the vast sections of free 

government homestead lands and the newly-acquired ranchlands available 

for purchase. Among comments printed in the pamphlet were excerpts from 

The Musselshell News and Professor's Shaw's analysis of the area's soils. 

Teagarden stressed the great possibilities for settlement in this the 

last great open country of the West, including personal testimonies of 

the early experiments of dry land farmers who had already made the 

grazing land yield rich grain harvest along the Musselshell.

Eastern Meagher County had been excellent stock country, most recently 

for sheep.2 The Musselshell Valley had thousands of acres of open grazing 

land, land which was part of the public domain, the Northern Pacific land 

was interlaced with a number of mountain fed streams which adequately 

watered cattle and sheep through most of the year. In the winter the 

ranchers moved their stock closer to the Musselshell River and the creek

^The Musselshell News, September 18, 1908.

^In 1906, Meagher County had 234,888 sheep and 26,787 cattle. 
In 1908, the county had 168,560 sheep, a loss of 28^% in a two-year 
period. State Board of Equalization, Annual Report, 4th Annual Report, 
pp. 50 and 58, and Bureau of Agriculture, Labor and Industry, 11th 
Biennial Report. 1907-08, p. 133.
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boLComs where the stock could be fed through the winter and trees were 

plentiful and ample protection tor the stock and home ranch buildings» 

Along these bottom lands, the greatest tonnage of hay was raised and 

stacked in the fields for the winter feeding. The earliest families in 

the Musselshell had settled along the river- For the most part, those 

ranchers selling out were sheepmen who had settled along the smaller 

more erratic streams and consequently were pressed into a much greater 

reliance on nature's wiles.^

The land available fir homestead settlement in Eastern Meagher 

County was formerly used by cattle and sheepmen to graze their herds.

Very little of it had been plowed or used tor crops. In addition, much 

of it had been overgrazed to the extent that ranchers had found it 

imperative over the passing years to raise more hay for their herds or 

cut their herds down because of the diminishing grasses- This land, 

for years considered only in terms of limited use for stock grazing, 

was now suddenly viewed in terms of a "veritable paradise" of virgin 

soil, waiting only for the plow to yield bountiful harvests.

In the Harlowton area, the transition from exclusive stock country 

to all-out farming was a rather orderly, though abrupt period of rearrange­

ment for the land and the people. With more and more railroad publicity 

and countless news stories and conversations among business and ranching 

people, public opinion adjusted readily and easily. Settlement of the

^The W. A. Hedges and P', I. Moule sheep ranches were both 
located near the later established homestead communities of Hedgesville 
and Nihill. The Swimming Woman Creek was the only stream passing through 
their area. These ranchers had grazed their shepp over much of the 
unfenced public domain bordering their holdings. The Hedges and Moule 
ranches were the first sold; there were wto be many others.
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area was considered in terms of necessity. Most people, especially

the younger business people, reasoned:

We had to adjust to the changing times. The large ranches 
and their hoarding of the ranges was an economic concept which 
had outlived itself. We though farming and settlement would 
make Montana and the Musselshell grow in the same way as the 
Midwest. And most recently, we had seen the example of the 
Dakotas.^

In the early summer of 1908, the already poor wool market collapsed. 

Wool clips sold at fifteen and sixteen cents, when conservative estimates 

for the year had been at least eighteen cents a pound. Prospects for the 

Musselshell that summer were for an expected record of 5,000,000 pounds 

of w o o l . 2 Sheepmen, with two poor market years immediately behind them, 

were faced with prospects of financial ruin. With the peak production 

of wool, sheepmen could not hold their clips for any length of time 

hoping to catch the market at a high point. Added to their woes, 

prices offered would not handle the incurred debts of most of them.

The news release of the Bowers Brothers of Oka selling their 

150,000 pound clip at seventeen cents appeared on one page of the Harlow­

ton newspaper. On the next page, the sale of the Bower Brothers' Ranch 

was reported. Nineteen thousand sheep and $300,000 were involved. This 

ranch was the eighth purchased in Montana by the Penwell Family at this 

time.3 Ranchmen could not contend with three continuous years of low

^Interview with James Lunney, Harlowton, Montana, November 15, 1965. 

^The Musselshell News. May 1 - 1908.

^The Musselshell News. July 9, 1908. Ironically, the foundations 
for the wool warehouse and loading docks were poured during this week. The 
Harlowton Boosters Club had backed the wool warehouse in addition to its 
colonization work.
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prices. For thf easi.-st and most economical remedy, Penwell Ranches 

or other of the nunrous monied ' and .^yeduates were ready to pay a 

cash prise for the commodity t'lty most desired for otter u^ea - land.

From several aspects this land was ideally suited for the produc­

tion o'" dry land crops. Nearly all of Eastern Meagher County had flat 

benchlands, with an occasional stream meandering through the middle of 

the open country. To be sure, the season was short, but had ample 

spring rains and hot, dry weather for the growing months of July, August 

and early September.

The Penwell Ranch Company, managed by Lewis Penwell of Helena, was 
a ranch holding company The company owned a number of Montana ranches, 
each one under a separate company name. As the Penwell Family purchased 
each ranch, officers were named, usually including one of the Penwells 
in a titular position. The other officers were chosen from among the 
prominent Montana stockholders, the former ranch owner and members of 
land syndicates. In the Harlowton area, the company made its first 
purchase in September, 1908, lith the acquisition of the fifti'cn thousand 
acre Basin Livestock Ranch. This ranch, added to the largest Penwell 
Ranch in ti;e area, the iinnecook Land & Livestock Company, witii it-- 
seventeen thousand acres of deeded land and a like acreage of leased 
land; gave the Penwell Ranches nearly ten miles of the best ranching 
lands in the Musselshell Valley. A portion of the Basin Livestock Comp­
any in the neighborhood of the homesteading area near the Judith Gap was 
sold soon after its purchase to an Illinois syndicate, knot’er t o 
thousand acres of the same rand: was contracted to another purchasing 
firm and between the two sales, the company planned to pay its stock­
holders about sixty per cent profit on their investment for one year.
The p. I. Moule Sheep Ranch involved a sale of thirteen thousand acres 
on Careless Creek and Sidmming Woman Creek, twenty-five miles northeast 
of Harlowton. This property was managed by H. J. Giltinan. and bordered 
the McQuitty Land Company. This eight thousand, two hundred aire ranch 
was the former W. A. Hedges Ranch and the company officers included 
several Harlowton businessmen and area ranchers. Its location surrounded 
the homestead town of Hedgesville on the Billings & Northern Railroad.
A colonization company purchased the Giltinan and McQu'tcy properties 
and immediately settled, in part, by Dutch farmers from the Netherlands 
The townsite of Hedges also became the property of th. new comt m v  in 
the same transaction, by an agreement of Penwell Ranches and the oreat 
Northern Railroad. Together, the four Penwell Ranches in the Musselshell 
Valley ran 45,000 head of sheep, and the total Penwell acreage in the 
Musselshell was about 55,000 acres. The herds were being disposed of as
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As early as the 1880's small amounts of grain had been raised along 

the river in the Martinsdale and Big Elk areas, mainly to provide feed 

for horses. The Van Camps, Perry Moore and the Smith Brothers had grown 

several acres of grain during most summers since they had arrived.^ The 

grain was irrigated during the summer and produced well. Still it was 

raised for the use on the home ranch, not for market.

In 1905, E.S. Grant, the ranch manager of the W. A. Hedges Ranch, 

near the old Billings-Fort Benton stage stop or Yale, had planted Turkey 

Red wheat with a seed drill during the fall. Sheep had managed to get 

into the iield during the next summer, but even with their tramping, the 

field, in spite of a severe hail, produced 32 bushels to the acre. The 

wheat was sold for a dollar a bushel, marking the first reported 

commercial sale of Eastern Meagher County wheat to someone other than 

a neighboring buyer.^

readily as buyers could be located. A change in the use of this land 
was essential to the company for quick profit. The ranches were sold 
to various land syndicates and individual buyers or groups interested 
in cutting up the ranches as rapidly as possible for incoming settlers. 
(Material for this resume of the Penwell Ranch Company came from numerous 
news articles in The Meagher Republican. White Sulphur Springs, 1906-1908, 
and The Musselshell News, Harlowton, i906-±909.) Locally, the Penwell 
people were looked upon in a favorable light. One reporter miraculously 
evolved from the day of the few owners of extensive ranches, controlling 
miles of open range to the era of the small farmer upon every one 
hundred and sixty or three hundred and twenty acres. The credit for 
this remarkable change must be given to the two railroad companies, 
the Chicago, Milwaukee & St. Paul and the B. & N. (Billings & Northern)- 
They have been carrying on for the past year an extensive and aggressive 
advertising campaign through the states of the middle west, exploiting 
the advantages of Montana . . . .  Credit must also be conceded to the 
men of far-sighted business ability who have secured these large tracts 
and are turning them at the right time to parties able to carry on the 
work of colonization." The Musselshell News. July 9, 1909.

^Interview with James Mocre, Twod%)t, Montana, December 2i, i964.
2The Musselshell News. April 30, 1908,
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Into this area the Great Northern Railroad built a branch line in 

the summer of 1908. The branch, called the Billings & Northern Railroad, 

connected the major cities. Great Falls and Billings. It passed through 

the Judith Gap, crossing eastern Meagher County diagonally, northwest to 

southeast.

Townsites were located at points designated as New Ubet, Judith 

Gap, Nihill and Yale, the latter name soon being changed to Hedgesville. 

Each of the towns was located on the bencftland near the recently sold 

Hedges Ranch and P- I. Moule Ranch.^ At these points the Billings & 

Northern conducted town sales for land buyers and speculators, built 

water towers, sidetracks and depots. The towns were built on sheeplands 

which had been established as early as 1879 and 1882.^

At the time of the sales, the Harlowton editor passed over the poor 

local sheep prices with the simple explanation, "there is just no demand."3 

Instead he editorialized on the new prospects of dry land farming as a 

catch-all cure of the area's ills. "Prosperity is gradually returning 

over the entire country . . . and those towns dependent upon the farmer 

will continue to do well."4 The Harlowton editor summed up the feeling 

of most people as he chronicled the sale of two of the largest sheep 

ranches to a South Dakota land syndicate in 1909.

^The Musselshell News. May 21, 1908 and The Musselshell News,
June 18, 1908. The Moule Ranch of 13,500 acres was sold to H. G. Giltinan, 
White Sulphur Springs, for $130,000. The Hedges option for his ranch 
of 7,500 acres went to J. H. Charters, Lewistown businessman. The 
Penwell Ranch Company was connected with both purchases.

Zibid.

^The Musselshell News. May 28, 1908. 

^The Musselshell News. June 11, 1908,
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No business tiansa-tion or the last iew months will have more 
immediate and direct eriect upon the welfare oi Harlowton than 
the sale or uhe Shaw and Fitzpatrick ranches. All the land in 
these two large tracts will always be tributary co Harlowton,
A town cannot be supported by ten or a dozen large ranches, if 
there is only one ramliy on each ranch. But when two ranches 
. . o are cut up into small rarms of from r60 to ozO acres 
with a family on each it necessarily means a tremendous increase 
in business in the town.^

The farming towns .ommen.ed that summer of 1908 in the Musselshell. 

The first of the communities was Judith Gap, nineteen miles north of 

Harlowton. It was located within the historic natural opening, the Judith 

Gap, between the Little Belt and Snowy mountains. The Judith Basin Valley 

was to the north and the Musselshell to the south. The townsite was 

established on a hillside with rolling benchlands facin& north and 

south for endless miles. For jlm Hill's Great Northern, the area 

looked like a natural business boom possibility.

The Billings & Northern Railroad build a single track into Judith 

Gap, in the late summer or i908. Sam W, Small and Wiullam Bills, both 

roiginally of Minneapolis, Minnesota, arrived within days ol the track 

laying. These two men were townsite agents for the railroad. Small 

was a newspaperman and Bills, a lawyer. They were the ideal homestead 

combination. Small was to conduct the advertising and write the glowing 

reports of Judith Gap, Bills was to purchase sheeplands and provide 

legal advice for the interested land syndicates. The Harlowton editor 

noted the arrival of the two men with little fanfare.

-The Musselshell News. May 7, i909.
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s. J. Small, a newspaperman, came up from Roundup yesterday, 
together with C. B. Witter and Louis Penwell, in the letter's 
car, and left this morning for the Judith Gap, where he intends 
to erect a building and enter the journalistic field. In com­
pany with a lawyer to look after that end, the townsite will be 
handled for the Hreat Northern folks and other real estate busi­
ness that may come their way. We have great expectation for 
Judith Gap as a coming town, but the newspaper business, at 
this time, we would gladly see in the hands of Mr. Small in 
preference to our own. Here's wishing to the future success of 
the enterprise.!

Judith Gap, like the homesteader himself, was not in the area one 

day and in business the next. One small main street marked the town 

as readily as the hastiJy constructed home at the corner of a quarter 

section designated a homesteader. The town sprang up within days of

the town lot sales. The first sale of lots at Judith Gap was made July 28,
21908 and the first permanent building was completed within a month.

The Great Northern Railroad made a substantial investment in the 

community in the first three months of its existence. A total of 

$71,725 was invested in the new town of Judith Gap to build a water 

system, depot, coal bunker, warehouse, office building and roundhouse.3 

Harlowton's editor visited the new town several months after its start.

In addition to the railroad properties, Judith Gap had two saloons, a 

blacksmith shop, livery stable, two general stores, cafe, 50-room hotel, 

three rooming houses, barver shop, and a building for the newspaper 

underway. The editor was duly impressed when he wrote:

^The Harlowton News, July 30, 1909,

2Judith Gap Journal, November 20, 1908. 

^The Musselshell News. September 11, 1908.
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Judith Gap has a future, and is sure to be a town of note, 
at no distant date. One cannot fail to see when he con­
siders the ideal location, the surrounding country and the 
expensive and substantial character of the work the rail­
road has put in.^

S. J. Small, the editor of the Judith Gap Journal, published his

first issue November 20, L908, The Journal had several half-page ads

announcing recent land developments and potential business opportunities

for the railroad-homestead town. Editor Small was most optimistic as

he wrote on page one, volume one, number one:

The townsite of Judith Gap is beautifully located on the 
west slope of the Big Snowy Mountains, midway between 
Great Falls and Billings, Tributary to it is an extensive 
territory, practically undeveloped, comprising some of 
the finest agricultural lands in Montana. During the past 
eight months settlers have been locating almost daily in the 
vicinity of this town, and now the unappropriated government 
lands surrounding the town for several miles have been 
taken up, and next summer farming operations will be begun 
and carried on with a vim characteristic of Western push and 
enterprise. The fertility of the soil, which has been proven, and 
the dense settlement of the surrounding country will make Judith 
Gap the natural trading point for a large territory, insuring its 
rapid growth and permanent prosperity.^

The railroad helped to establish a bank, grain elevator and 

several store in hastily-constructed frame buildings overlooking the 

miles of endless Buffalo grass.

Judith Gap was the largest homestead town in the Musselshell, 

but the others were just as active. The smaller towns. New Shawmut,

79, Nilhill, Living Springs, Rothiemay, Japan, Cruse, Franklin, Durand 

City, Oka and Irene, served their own local community needs. Each one 

had a post office, a general store and a saloon. Most had a one-room 

schoolhouse and a lumber yard. They were small, but long on optimism.

^The Musselshell News. September 11, 1908. 

^Judith Gap Journal. November 20, j.908,
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As the homesteaders continued to come into eastern Meagher County during 

the peak years of 1911-15, each one of the towns had visions of being 

another Harlowton. The most optimistic viewed their towns in terms of 

a future Billings, Great Falls or Helena.

Optimism played a vital role in the development of Hedgesville. 

Hedgesville was the other major homestead cown within Meagher County. 

Within several months of its sister town, Judith Gap, Hedgesville, 

grew up around a lonely depot fifteen miles south and east. Hedges­

ville was on the track of the Billings & Northern, replacing the old 

stage stop of Yale and its combination stage station, saloon, general 

store and post office. For many years, Yale had served a large number 

of sheep ranchers. Now the only semblance of the past was the name 

Hedgesville for the railroad's townsite.^

Hedgesville, like neighboring Judith Gap and the other homestead 

towns of eastern Meagher County which grew up in the next three years, 

started in the traditional railroad sponsored manner. Hedgesville's 

first building was the small Billings & Northern's railroad depot. A 

saloon was the first business interest in the town. Angus McKay, a 

Scotsman most recently from Garneil, twenty miles away, brought his 

family to the prairie depot in the summer of 1908. He set up a tent, 

used part for living quarters and sold drinks in the other half of the 

tent. Bill Van Dyke established another early business, a livery stable.

W. A. Hedges was a son of Cornelius Hedges, Montana's first 
Superintendent of Public Instruction, a U. S. District Attorney and 
Attorney General. His son was a graduate of Yale and due to poor eye­
sight, necessarily took to an outdoor life. His sheep ranch was one 
of the earliest in the area. Homesteaders always called the town Hedges. 
Hedgesville was the name provided by the railroad.
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He had a "landslide business' during the fall of 1908.^ Hedgesville 

began to grow in 1909 when the railroad added a ’'̂ ■-cel and coal dock 

and made the fledgling town a stop on its Billings-Great Falls run.

To speed up settlement in the area, Louis Penwell of Helena was 

hired. The Penwell Ranches took over the townsite from the Billings & 

Northern Railroad and advertised a townsite sale in conjunction with 

their own advertising of the Hedges and Moule sheep ranches.

The Hedges and Moule ranches were set up under two different con- 

panies, the Giltinan-Penwell Ranch Company and the McQuitty Land Company. 

The officers of the two firms were from Harlowton, Lewistown and White 

Sulphur Springs. After considerable negotiati' i with potential land 

buying syndicates and individual purchasers, the two companies formed 

a large colonization group.

Marlon Small, brother of Sam J. Small, editor and publisher of 

the Judith Gap Journal, helped to establish the town of Hedgesville 

and was sincere enough in his belief in the community's potential to 

build his own homestead newspaper plant. He called his paper The 

Hedges Herald. His first issue came off the press in time to proudly 

proclaim that "no less than two hundred families of Holland Dutch" 

were to move into the Hedgesville area during that fall of 1909. To 

carry out the sale, the local owners were issuing $350,000 worth of 

stock for the total 24,100 acre tract.^ Readers of the paper were

^Mrs. Elizabeth M. Barrett, "Hedgesville Country" (notes 
in possession of Dave Giltinan, Judith Gap, Montana).

^The Hedges Herald. October 19, 1909.
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counseled to buy land immediately since nearly all the stock had been 

subscribed for by the industrious Dutch. The Dutch colonists were expected 

to raise sugar beets as one of their chief industries. The editor predicted 

the community would soon have a sugar beet factory and become a strong 

rival to the irrigated beet farms near Billings.

In actuality, however, the Dutch who did come to the Hedgesville 

community were much different additions than had been forecast. Their 

experience was typical of many misled homesteaders.

After the Penwell Family Ranches purchased the sheep ranches border­

ing the town of Hedgesville, a colonization group with the auspicious 

title of Montana-Holland Colonization Company was organized. Harry 

Giltinan of White Sulphur Springs and a Mr. McCann of Lewistown handled 

the company workings. Their first step was to enlist the help of a 

Catholic priest. Father Van Heuval, a Dutchman by origin who had come 

to America and had parishes In North Dakota and Montana, most recently 

in the Judith Basin. Giltinan and McCann paid the expenses to return 

Father Heuval to his native North Braband, Holland, near the Belgium 

border. Father Heuval visited many of his old friends, encouraging 

them to make th move to Hedgesville. He gave glowing reports on the 

recent dry land farming successes in Montana and told of the great 

areas of land being offered for sale to interested farmers. Five 

families and three bachelors answered Father Heuval's call and decided 

to move to Hedgesville.

The families came in two groups, the first arriving in Hedgesville 

in the fall of 1909, the second in the spring of 1910, They traveled 

by ship, landed in New York and crossed the rest of the continent by
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train. The families arrived with little money and nothing more than 

their Immediate personal possessions. As the two groups arrived,

Giltinan and McCann encouraged the families to buy land along the Swim­

ming Woman Creek. Two families, the VanderVorcs and the Willemses 

contracted to pay $40 per acre for i60 acres apiece, with about half the 

land irrigable. The Montana-Holland Colonization Company agreed to 

finance the families, providing four horses and a minimum of farming 

equipment. The two families stayed on this land for two years when 

they made the decision to follow the example of the others. The Vander- 

Sloots, Joseph Schriks, Andrew Collen, Koos, Kees VerMeer, John 

Spithoven and the one Belgian, Louis Reypens, had filed on homestead 

land. The two fartiLlies who had purchased land for $40 an acre, like 

the others, did not know of the Homestead Law when they first arrived.

The others learned of it after the two families bought land and before 

they had decided which land to take from the company. In the ensuing ten 

years, the small Dutch community worked their lands together and farmed 

as best they could. These were the only Dutch coming to the United 

States under the auspices of the Montana-Holland Colonization Company.^ 

The two hundred families expected by Editor Marion Small never material­

ized .

Small boosted Hedgesville in all of the early issues of the Heral^. 

Hfe wrote :

^Interview with John Willems, Harlowton, November 27, 1965. 
Mr. Willems said Father Heuval spoke of Hedgesville in most glowing 
terms and "whatever a priest said must be true." The experiences of 
these few families fits the example of many others, in Eastern Meagher 
County and elsewhere.
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Hedges (Hedgesvillej has the brightest future of any of che new 
towns along the Great Northern Railroad between Great Falls 
and Billings, it has a larger tributary farming country than any 
of them, and the richest. It is the nearest railroad point to 
a rich gold mine that is rapidly being developed; it has streams 
traversing its tributary farming country that are surficiently 
large to irrigate a large portion of the country, it irrigation 
is ever necessary; it is receiving hundreds of the best tarmers 
in the world to people its vast prairies and make this rich soil 
produce millions or gold dollars; it has the best climate in the 
state, and clear sparking water that cannot be surpassed on earth. 
Hedges is a good place to come if you want a home or a business 
opening that will make you rich in either event. You will be 
warmly welcomed by the most hospitable people to be found in the 
United States.^

Marion Small could well have believed every word he wrote. In one issue 

of the Journal, Marion's brother Sam quoted Professor Thomas Shaw, The 

Great Northern agriculture expert as saying Judith Gap and Hedgesville 

had black and brown soil so fertile that the twelve to nineteen inches 

of normal rainfall was no detriment ac all to the growing conditions 

of any grain crop.2

^The Hedges Herald, October x9, i909.

2judith Gap Journal, November 20, 1908. Shaw had ample 
opportunity to visit and encourage the efforts of the Small Brothers, 
He visited in the area many times.
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CHAPTER IV 

THE HOMESTEADERS

Homestead settlement in eastern Meagher County began with the 

completion of the two railroads crossing Central Montana, the Milwaukee 

in the spring of 1908 and the Billings & Norhtern six months later. The 

railroads opened the broad plains land of the Musselshell Valley to 

settlement on the free public domain and the vanishing ranch lands. 

Following the pattern of all the areas of the Great Plains, settlers 

came from numerous backgrounds and many states. Midwesterners made 

up the largest single group and more often than not were farmers before 

they came to the West.^ The exceptions to this pattern, however, do not 

allow a typing of background of the homesteaders. In simplest terms, 

the homesteaders were ordinary people, seeking new homes and new leases 

on life. The open plains offered them a place to go to find answers to 

their dreams and hopes.

Homesteaders came to eastern Meagher County to build homes of the 

free or cheap, unbroken, virgin prairie land. These people had been 

swayed by their own dreams, the influencing propaganda of the railroads.

ljudith Gap Journal, November 20, 1908. In a list of thirty 
of the first homesteaders in the Judith Gap area two were listed from 
midwest states, four from the Gallatin Valley of Montana and the remain­
der from western states. The Nihill community had ten families from 
South Dakota, three from Iowa, and two each from Minnesota and Michigan, 
and one from Gernamy. The Hedgesville area had the same types of back­
ground, in addition numbers from Holland and Belgium. See Duane 
hammers "Silver Sagebrush," term paper for Dr. Merrill Burlingame 
Montana State University, Bozeman, Montana, winter quarter, 1965, pp. 2-23.
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land syndicates and local businessmen. Newspaper editors, land experts, 

real estate men, and ordinary people just like themselves promised a 

land of wealth and opportunity.^

Thanks to the excursionist and immigration car rates of the

Milwaukee and Great Northern railroads, the homeseeker came to the 

Musselshell in great numbers and at a minimum of expense. At the 

depot at Harlowton or Judith Gap or Hedgesville, the homespeker stepped 

off the train into the bright sunshine. He saw a small town and prairie 

lands stretching for miles to the mountains in the distance. He bought 

a newspaper at the station and read part of a large front page story of 

the recent visit of soil expert Professor Thomas Shaw. The article 

proclaimed this land the finest in the world, so valuable in potash, 

humus and phosphorous that it could even be sold for fertilizer.^ 

Interrupted midway through this "scientific" soil aiialysis, the homeseeker 

was approached by a man Introducing hjimself as a land locator . For a fee 

of twenty dollars, he promised to locate the homeseeker on the

best piece of land in the Musselshell Valley.^

The homeseeker, alone or with his friends from the same town in 

a midwestern state, would climb into the car or buggy of the locator 

and drive through the main, and often only, street of the town and follow

Ipor example, the Harlowton editor pointed out that "the 
Milwaukee has spent more than $50,000 on its literature concerning this 
district and tributary territory," and went on in the same article to 
twll of the joint role Harlowton businessmen and the railroad had taken 
together in promoting the community. The Musselshell News. August 6, 1908

^Judith Gap Journal. November 20, 1908.
OJoseph Kinsely Howard, Montana: High, Wide and Handsome

(New Haven: Yale University Press, 1943), p. 182.
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a long, straight dirt road into the country. The land man took the unknow­

ing homeseeker out to view the agricultural lands in the vicinity which 

had yielded dry land crops a year before of twenty or thirty bushels to 

the acre. They continued their ride over the flat benchland, stopping 

again at a small shack in the middle of a large, open field. This 

was the home of another recent arrival. The men watched the horse-drawn 

plow unearth the grassland for the first time and the locator stopped 

the farmer, whom he had also located, and introduced the men. They 

spoke of the area, the soil, the climate, and last year's harvest on^’a 

neighboring quarter-section, and they likely found they were from the 

same area of Iowa. If the homeseeker had been unimpressed before, he 

was eager to settle in the Musselshell now.

Hastily departing, the locator and his homeseeker went to view the 

free land on the public domain. As the buggies of Model-T's bumped along 

over the prairie, the locator and the homesteader chose a location.

They marked the spot on the map provided by the locator and started back 

to town. Now or later, the locator, who was also a real estate man, 

pointed to another tract of grassland nearby. This was the grazing 

land of the former ranchers. As the locator-realtor hastened to point 

out, this land was owned by the company he happened to represent, but 

was for sale at a moderate price. The homeseeker was encouraged to buy 

a tract, as prices would go up with more settlers arriving to settle up 

the free government land. The Easterner, impressed with the unbroken 

soil, the mountains in the distance, the talk with another homesteader 

and the realtor, decided to buy the additional tract to insure a rich 

return on his free-land investment. The realtor returned with the new
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homesteader to town. For his own part, he was satisfied with another 

day's service to his community, his firm and himself.

Helping the homeseeker find land was a major concern of business 

for the entire community as the typical newspaper comment testifies:

"J. J. Hall has added an auto to his liver. He finds that it is neces­

sary to supply the demand for more rapid travel among land men and has 

purchased a 42-horsepower Rambler capable of carrying five or six passen­

gers."^ The realtor who maintained an office in the town, was an active 

member of all worthwhile organizations to boost the area and was considered 

a valuable asset to the locality. Some were scrupulous and others were

not. Regardless of their scruples (or lack of them) in business, their
2role was an important one.

Lewistown had the nearest land office to the Musselshell. The 

homesteader had to travel to the Fergus County Seat to file his quarter 

section with the government. On his trip to Lewistown via the old 

Montana train, or the Milwaukee after 1909, he finished the local news­

paper, and wrote a hurried note home telling his wife to start packing.

He also decided what items he would need to plant a crop before going 

to the Midwest to gather his family and belongings, and to find several 

neighbors to share an immigrant car to return to the Musselshell.

The railroads and the homesteaders changed the complexion of 

Meagher County to a considerable extent. In essence, the railroads 

opened eastern Meagher County to settlement whereas the western half of 

the county was characterized by mountains and had only one major valley,

^The Musselshell News. April 30, 1909, 

^Howard, pp. 182-183.
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Smith River. White Sulphur Springs, which had prophecized and begged 

for a railroad since the 1880's, was not satisfied until the Yellowstone 

Park and White Sulphur Springs .railroad was built by the Ringling Bros, 

circus family in 1910. The lack of a railroad hampered settlements 

around White Sulphur Springs.

As the eastern railroads arrived in the early spring and the fall 

of 1908, the Musselshell Valley began to change, A combination of forces 

entered the complicated picture. The railroad, the fading livestock 

industry, the Federal Government, local people and the newly arrived 

land syndicates all joined forces at the same time. The homestead 

era was on. It was a phenomenon in the Musselshell because it was new 

and meant a land bonanza and an opportunity for the area to prosper 

and grow. The homesteaders changed the Musselshell as quickly as they 

arrived to build their clapboard one-street towns and their 12 X 20 

shacks on the corner of a quarter section of prairie land.

For the most part, young men came out to the hastily constructed 

towns and the unbroken sod to seek their fortunes. They were eager 

and willing. They came to the Musselshell Valley in the hot stuffy 

railroad immigrant cars or joggled over muddy roads in ther overloaded 

Model-T's. They gave little thought to the proglems of establishing 

homes or plowing unbroken land. The young men planned to become rich.

In fact, everyone connected with homesteading in its early years 

was thought of as rich, in his own estimation and in the estimation of 

everyone else. The prairie land was looked upon in terms of money, 

prosperity, reward. The homesteader considered himself rich in having 

had the opportunity to pay a $3 filing fee and receiving 160 or 320 

acres of fertile, unplowed, virgin land. The land syndicates, their
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stockholders and their land men felt themselves rich because they had 

purchased the sheep ranches at low prices and would sell che land as 

smaller, individual plots for a much greater return on their original 

investment. The railroads planned to get rich by colonizing the land, 

carrying the carloads of grain and branching out in new directions and 

opening up more areas of rich land. The oldtimers, in and out of town, 

had to live with the prospects of change, or move up to the times and 

also profit. The new townspeople would profit doubly, selling goods to 

the homesteaders and filing on their own land as farmers. The rancher 

had to cut his herds, find new grazing lands on unappropriated government 

lands and take to farming. He might not have felt himptelf rich, but 

those around him viewed his large property with relish, for irrigated 

farming land for a new land scheme. The rancher could sell if he could 

not adapt.1

The homesteader arrived with his few belongings, ready and 

anxious to re-establish or start a new home on the prairie. Some came 

with little more than their personal possessions; others had money and 

invested heavily in the necessary farm items when they arrived. Typical 

was the Beers family who settled around Judith Gap. Mr. and Mrs. Beers 

"arrived in full force with an immigrant (railroad) car, loaded with 

furniture, machinery, three horses, a cow and a lawnmower. Compared 

to many families, the Beers had a most enviable start.

Most homesteaders settled in time to plant a spring or winter crop;

^Interview with James Lunney, Harlowton, Montana, November i5, 1965.

^Bernice Antoine Williamson, Oaks to Prairies (Post Falls, Idaho: 
1956), p. 63.
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thus, the first homes were hastily constructed our of sheer necessity 

to hold back the elements. Others were not as lucky. Delano Antoine cf 

Hedgesville, for instance, planted his first crop nearly two years after 

he arrived.^ He came to Hedgesville with no money and was forced to work 

for a neighboring rancher until he had enough to pay his filing fee, plant 

a crop and build a home.

In still another way the homesteaders had great difficulties. From 

the moment they set foot on their quarter-section or half-section of land, 

they had to contend with the elements. Foremost were the elementary 

problems— water, wood, and fuel. This basic contention with life was 

a lasting situation with the new settlers, wherever they settled on 

the plains and no matter how long they farmed their land.

There were few homesteaders along the Musselshell River. These 

lands were the best located and the ranchers who held on rather than 

selling to land syndicates after 1906 owned the land along the river 

The first filings in the county were proximate to the small streams.

Thus, most of the homesteaders were forced to file on land away from 

natural running water. Water was furnished by wells, usually dug by

^Williamson, Oaks to Prairies, p. 63.

^Interview with James Lunney, November 15, 1965. Most of the 
settlement in this area was on the north side of the river. The home­
steaders, in many ways, taking any type of land offered, felt the many 
eroded, pockmarked coulees and slopes south of the Musselshell incapable 
of becoming good farm land. This can further be attested to by the few 
applications for homesteads filed south of the Musselshell River.
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the homesteader and his wife. Windmills were common in the area.^

The well and windmill, for most homesteaders, provided all the available 

water, for the family, stock and the garden.

Distance, not the lack of timber, created the most serious problem 

facing the homesteaders in eastern Meagher County. The Crazy, Little 

Belts and Snowy mountains were within view, but up to forty miles from 

some of the dry land farmers. Lumber, so important for building fences 

and shelters, was at a premium. It had to be hauled for miles. Some 

homesteaders bought lumber from the sawmills and hired carpenters to 

build their buildings. Most cut their own wood and did their own 

carpentering through necessity.

Fuel came from wherever feasible and cheap. The Hedgesville area 

and several locations along the Musselshell River yielded a low-grade 

coal. Trees along the streams and cattle wastes were other sources.

Most of the fuel, however, came from the forest lands and was gathered 

in several trips by the homesteader and his family with a horse-drawn 

wagon or two. Dependent as they were on the elements, the homesteaders 

struggled to plow the land, plant crops and build homes and communities.

Two of the homesteaders in the Hedgesville and Judith Gap areas 

were Delano Antoine and Frank Holmes. They are representative of the 

homesteaders of eastern Meagher County. Delano Antoine arrived in 1909. 

He rode the Montana Railroad from Lombard to Harlowton and Judith Gap,

^Every homesteader had his own garden and a cow or pigs for food. 
The wildlife, however, often decided the food question for the year.
Large herds of deer and antelope had always been found in the Mussel­
shell. The herd population of both animals decreased rapidly, beginning 
to repopulate years later when the homesteaders had moved on. This 
information provided by interviews with a number of local homesteaders 
and David Lake, Harlowton, Montana, former forest ranger in the Harlow­
ton, Martinsdale and Moore offices, September 24, 1965.
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